

## Carotenoid Biosynthesis and their Regulation in Citrus Fruits

## Berta Alquézar • María Jesús Rodrigo • Lorenzo Zacarías\*

Instituto de Agroquímica y Tecnologia de Alimentos, Consejo Superior de Investigaciones Científicas (CSIC), 46100 Burjasot, Valencia, Spain Corresponding author: \* lzacarias@iata.csic.es

## ABSTRACT

Carotenoids are the main pigments responsible for the attractive color of the peel and pulp of citrus fruits and greatly contribute to their nutritional and antioxidant value. Fruits of different *Citrus* species display a broad array of color singularities and in many cultivars the peel and the pulp also exhibit different color, envisaging specie- and tissue- specific regulation of the carotenoid content and composition. In addition, citrus mutants affected in fruit color are a useful experimental system to identify molecular mechanisms regulating carotenoid biosynthesis. *Citrus* is, therefore, an excellent model to study fruit carotenoid accumulation and their regulation. In this review, we summarize and update information on carotenoid content and composition in fruits of agronomically important *Citrus* species. Current understanding of carotenoids biosynthesis in citrus, highlighting the main regulatory steps of the pathway and how may be related to carotenoid content and complement in peel and pulp of *Citrus* fruits are discussed. Finally, the effect of environmental and endogenous factors on citrus fruits carotenoids is also evaluated.

Keywords: color, carotenogenesis, gene expression, maturation

Abbreviations: ABA, abscisic acid;  $\beta$ -CHX,  $\beta$ -carotene hydroxylase;  $\epsilon$ -CHX,  $\epsilon$ -carotene hydroxylase; CRTISO, carotene isomerase; GA, gibberellic acid; GGPP, geranylgeranyl diphosphate;  $\beta$ -LCY, lycopene  $\beta$ -cyclase;  $\epsilon$ -LCY, lycopene  $\epsilon$ -cyclase; MEP, 2-C-methyl-D-erythritol 4-phosphate; NCED, nine-*cis*-epoxycarotenoid dioxygenase; NSY, neoxanthin synthase; PDS, phytoene desaturase; PSY, phytoene synthase; PTOX, plastid terminal oxidase; VDE, violaxanthin de-epoxidase; ZDS,  $\zeta$ -carotene desaturase; ZEP, zeaxanthin epoxidase

### CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	23
CAROTENOIDS IN CITRUS	24
Oranges	25
Mandarins and its hybrids	26
Lemons	27
Pummelos	27
Grapefruits	28
THE PATHWAY OF CAROTENOID BIOSYNTHESIS	28
Carotenoid biosynthetic genes in citrus fruits	29
Regulation of carotenoid biosynthesis in citrus fruits	30
Carotenoid catabolism	31
FACTORS AFFECTING CAROTENOID CONTENT AND COMPOSITION	31
Hormones	31
Environmental factors	32
a) Temperature	32
b) Light	32
Nutritional factors	32
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	33
REFERENCES	33

## INTRODUCTION

Carotenoids were first described as isoprenoid compounds at the beginning of the  $20^{\text{th}}$  century (Gross 1987). Their basic structure is a C<sub>40</sub> backbone skeleton, formed by tail to tail linkage of two geranylgeranyl diphosphate molecules. This skeleton can be modified by hydrogenation, dehydrogenation, cyclization, shortening or extension of the chain, isomerization, or by the addition of oxygen or other functional groups. Hydrocarbonated carotenoids are known as carotenes, while carotenoids that contain one or more oxygen atoms are referred to as xanthophylls. The most common oxygenated groups are hydroxy- and epoxy-, but aldehyde, ceto, carboxy, carbomethoxy and metoxy groups have been also described in carotenoids (Gross 1987). The structure of a linear, a bicyclic and an oxygenated carotenoid, corresponding to lycopene,  $\beta$ -carotene and violaxantin, respectively, are shown in **Fig. 1**.

Carotenoids are the pigments responsible of the red, yellow and orange colors of a wide number of flowers and fruits of many different plant species (Hirschberg 2001; DellaPenna and Pogson 2006). They also provide the characteristic coloration of many birds, fishes and crustaceous (pelicans, trout, salmon, lobsters, shrimp, etc.). However,



Fig. 1 Chemical structure of lineal (phytoene), bicyclic ( $\beta$ -carotene) and epoxy carotenoids (violaxanthin).

animals do not synthesize carotenoids and their color and carotenoid content depend on their dietary uptake (Fraser and Bramley 2004). In addition to these coloration-related properties, carotenoids have other major biological functions. Carotenoids act as modulators of the physical properties of lipid membranes (Gruszecki and Strzalka 2005), participate in photoprotection and in the light-harvesting complex of the photosynthetic apparatus (Demmig Adams et al. 1996; Merchant and Sawaya 2005) and play important roles as photoprotectives and scavengers of free radicals (Fraser and Bramley 2004). Moreover, carotenoids are precursor of apocarotenoids, some of them are important volatile aromarelated compounds (Bouvier et al. 2003; Simkin et al. 2004; Lewinsohn et al. 2005). The plant hormone abscisic acid (ABA) is also an apocarotenoid and, recently, new functions as signalling molecules have been described for some apocarotenoids (Schwartz et al. 2004). Their importance as nutritional components are also well recognized, since specific carotenoids are precursors of vitamin A, have significant antioxidant activity and protective effects against agerelated ocular diseases, carcinogenesis, cardiovascular diseases and other degenerative processes (Fraser and Bramley 2004; Krinsky and Johnson 2005; Rao and Rao 2007; Renzi and Johnson 2007).

Carotenoids are widely distributed in the plant kingdom and their content and relative proportion varies greatly among the different species, tissue, developmental processes, cultural conditions, etc. In green vegetables and green tissues, the most abundant carotenoids are those characteristic of chloroplastic tissues, as lutein, zeaxanthin and  $\beta$ -carotene (Fraser and Bramley 2004; Niizu and Rodríguez Amaya 2005; Kopsell and Kopsell 2006). In fruits, carotenoid composition is much more complex and heterogeneous (Gross 1987). Due to the health promoting benefits of carotenoids, their use as foodstuff or as nutraceuticals has considerably increased last years. Carotenoid biosynthetic pathway has been studied in many plant species, most genes of the pathway have been identified and biotechnological manipulation of their content and composition has been performed in selected plant species (for review see Fraser and Bramley 2004; Bouvier et al. 2005; Botella-Pavía and Rodríguez-Concepción 2006; Howitt and Pogson 2006; Sandmann et al. 2006). Citrus fruits are one of the most important sources of carotenoids, because of the massive consumption worldwide as both fresh fruits and fruit juice. Carotenoid content and composition in fruits of different species and cultivars have been studied over the years, and more recently molecular analysis of the pathway has been also investigated. The objective of this review is to summarize current understanding of carotenoids biosynthesis in citrus, highlighting the main regulatory steps of the pathway and how may be related to the carotenoid content and complement in fruits of different Citrus species. The effect of environmental and endogenous factors on citrus fruits carotenoids is also evaluated.

#### **CAROTENOIDS IN CITRUS**

Citrus fruits are, in general, a complex source of carotenoids in which up to 110 different carotenes and xanthophylls have been reported, although many of them may be isomers (Stewart and Wheaton 1973a). These pigments are responsible for the external and internal coloration of fruit of most citrus species. In the commercialization of citrus fruits for fresh consumption, the external color is probably the first perception of the consumer and a critical factor for their acceptance. In the juice, the color is also and important attribute of quality. An interesting genetic feature of mature citrus fruit is the diversity of peel color which varies from the typical bright yellow of lemon, grapefruit or pummelo, to the characteristic orange of mandarins and oranges, or the red color of some grapefruit or pummelos mutants. This wide range of coloration is due to qualitatively and quantitatively changes not only in carotenoid content but also in their distribution. In the decade of 1960s, carotenoid content and composition were extensively studied by traditional chromatographic methods, as column chromatography and/ or thin layer chromatography (Curl and Bailey 1957a; Curl and Bayley 1961; Yokoyama and White 1966; Curl 1967; Yokoyama and White 1967; Yokoyama and Vandercook 1967) that provided valuable and fundamental information on chemistry of carotenoid. In 1971 Stewart and Wheaton demonstrated the potential of high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) for the separation of saponified citrus carotenoids. HPLC coupled to photodiode array detector (PDA) offers a number of advantages, as short time of analysis, reproducibility, accuracy, low amount of samples, etc. and is currently the most widely used technique for carotenoid analysis, not only in citrus fruits but also in many other plant tissues and species.

Results collected from the decades of 1970-80 mainly provided correlations between peel or pulp color and carotenoid content and composition (Gross *et al.* 1972; Stewart 1977a, 1977b, 1980). From theses results it become evident that color in citrus fruits is highly related to total content of carotenoids but more importantly to specific carotenoids, that although may be at low concentrations have an important contribution in peel or juice color. More recently, nutritional values of citrus fruit carotenoids have been also evaluated (Lin and Chen 1994; Pupin *et al.* 1999; Lee 2001; Dhuique Mayer *et al.* 2005; Meléndez Martínez *et al.* 2005).

The diversity of citrus fruits carotenoids and the uncertain genetic origin of main cultivated species and varieties, made unattainable the understanding of the phylogenetic background regulating carotenoid content and composition. Exhaustive comparative analysis of carotenoid accumulation in fruit of different species and mutants, and their potential association with changes in gene expression are now generating new insights into this important metabolic pathway in citrus. Based on the carotenoid composition in the peel and juice sacs of 39 citrus cultivars during fruit ripening, Matsumoto et al. (2007) have established five clusters; carotenoid poor, phytoene-abundant, violaxanthin-abundant, violaxanthin- and  $\beta$ -cryptoxanthin-abundant, and phytoene-, violaxanthin-, and  $\beta$ -cryptoxanthin-abundant, respectively. This classification was identical for juice sacs with the exception of phytoene-abundant cluster, which was not detected in that tissue. It is interesting the fact that for most varieties, the carotenoid profile was qualitatively similar in peel and pulp (Matsumoto et al. 2007). Other authors suggest that cis-violaxanthin and  $\beta$ -cryptoxanthin content were strong determinants for the classification of 25 Citrus genotypes (Fanciullino et al. 2006). Different C<sub>30</sub> citrus-specific carotenoids, referred to as apocarotenoids (Fig. 2), were also present in the peel and pulp of the fruit. One of the most abundant apocarotenoids  $\hat{\beta}$ -citraurin, which is only present in the fruit peel and provides the intense orangereddish coloration to some oranges, mandarins or hybrids (Stewart and Wheaton 1972; Stewart and Wheaton 1973b). In addition, other apocarotenoids, with longer (β-apo-2'carotenal) or shorter ( $\beta$ -apo-14'-carotenal) chain have been



Fig. 2 Chemical structure of specific *Citrus* apocarotenoids and apocarotenals.

described. The biosynthetic origin of these aporacotenoids is still uncertain (Oberholster *et al.* 2001).

#### Oranges

The color of ripe orange fruits varies from the pale orange of Valencia orange to the intense orange of Navelina cultivar. Orange mutants of yellow (Rodrigo et al. 2003) or red color have been reported (Monselise and Halevy 1961; Lee 2001; Liu et al. 2007; Alquézar et al. 2008). Except for blood-oranges, in which the red color is due to the presence of anthocyanins (Lee 2002), the color of orange fruits is mainly due to carotenoids accumulation. Carotenoid content differs among cultivars, ranging from 4 to 38 µg/ g FW in the pulp and from 40 to  $120 \mu g/g$  FW in the peel. Similarly to most carotenogenic fruits, carotenoid content in orange fruit use to be higher in the peel than in the pulp (Gross 1987). Carotenoid content and composition in peel and pulp of important cultivated oranges in the world are summarized in **Table 1**. In ripe orange fruits,  $\beta$ , $\beta$ -xanthophylls are the most abundant carotenoids that may represent up to 98% of total carotenoids in the flavedo of some cultivars (Rodrigo et al. 2004). Within these compounds, violaxanthin is the predominant and can reach up to 80% of total peel carotenoids. Violaxanthin 9-cis- isomer predominates in mature fruits, although the trans- and other cis- isomers may be also detected (Kato et al. 2004; Rodrigo et al. 2004; Meléndez Martínez et al. 2007). Violaxanthin renders a yellowish coloration and therefore is unlikely to be the only or major carotenoid responsible for the intense orange coloration of some varieties. Evidences indicate that the ratio between the content of yellow/orange carotenoids (as β-cryptoxanthin and  $\beta$ -citraurin) may be a better indicator of the typical coloration of orange and mandarins. For example, the ratio of violaxanthin/ $\beta$ -citraurin is lower in Navel oranges than in the pale Valencia (Oberholster et al. 2001) and the juice of Rhode Red had a lower violaxanthin/β-cryptoxanthin ratio than that of Valencia (Goodner et al. 2001).

Cultivar	μg/g FW	Carotenoids	Reference
Bonanza			
Peel	43.3	31% auroxanthin	Xu <i>et al.</i> 2006a
		23% β-citraurin	
Pulp	6.6	33% violaxanthin	Xu <i>et al.</i> 2006a
		12% β-cryptoxanthin	
Cara Cara			
Peel	62.3	36% phytoene	Xu et al. 2006a;
		21% auroxanthin	Alquézar et al. 2008
Pulp	24.0-38.0	34-40% phytoene	Fanciullino et al. 2006;
		8-14% violaxanthin	Xu et al. 2006a;
		5-16% lycopene	Alquézar et al. 2008
Hamlin			
Pulp	4.0-10.0	36-57% violaxanthin	Stewart 1977b;
		8-13% β-cryptoxanthin	Dhuique Mayer et al. 2005
Navel			
Peel	60.0-75.0	26-52% violaxanthin	Curl and Bayley 1961; Malachi et al. 1974; Alquézar et al. 2008
		12% phytoene	
Pulp	4.0-23.0	48% violaxanthin	Curl and Bayley 1961; Gross et al. 1972; Alquézar et al. 2008
		11% anteraxanthin	
Navelate			
Peel	59.0	80% violaxanthin	Rodrigo et al. 2004
Navelina			
Peel	94.2	31% violaxanthin	Pascual et al. 1993
		18% phytoene	
Pulp	16.9		Pascual et al. 1993
Salustiana			
Pulp	8.6	55% violaxanthin	Dhuique Mayer et al. 2005
		17% β-cryptoxanthin	
Shamouti			
Pulp	5.9-27.7	38-47% violaxanthin	Gross et al. 1972;
		10-22% β-cryptoxanthin	Dhuique Mayer et al. 2005
Valencia			
Peel	90.0-120.0	44-55% violaxanthin	Gross 1987; Kato et al. 2004
Pulp	6.0-19.0	2-65% violaxanthin	Stewart 1977b; Gross 1987;
		4-15% β-cryptoxanthin	Kato et al. 2004;
		6-40% anteraxanthin	Dhuique Mayer et al. 2005

Table 1 Carotenoid content and composition in the peel and pulp of mature fruits of selected orange (*Citrus sinensis* L. Osbeck) cultivars.



Fig. 3 External and internal appearance of mature orange (*Citrus sinensis* L. Osbeck) fruit with marked differences in peel and pulp color.

Lycopene accumulation is an unusual feature in orange fruits, since has only been reported in three mutants. The orange Shara, a sport of Shamouti orange, develops a pink color at the inner mesocarp, carpel walls and vesicle starks, by accumulation of lycopene (Monselise and Halevy 1961). The orange Cara Cara was detected in Venezuela, as a bud mutation from Washington Navel, by its red-bright pulp that resembles that of pink and red grapefruits, while the peel remains orange (Fig. 3) (Saunt 2000). The red pulp of Cara Cara accumulates lycopene but also higher amounts of phytoene, phytofluene, and  $\beta$ -carotene than the parental fruit. In the peel of Cara Cara trace amounts of lycopene have been also detected (Lee 2001; Xu et al. 2006a; Alquézar et al. 2008). Cara Cara is the first lycopene-accumulating orange available after commercial propagation in California in 1991. Recently, a new red orange mutant, named Hong Anliu, accumulating lycopene in the albedo, membranes segment, and juice sacs, has been reported (Liu et al. 2007). This mutant, in contrast to Cara Cara, does not accumulate early carotenes, suggesting a different metabolic perturbation in the carotenoid biosynthetic pathway.

Another interesting mutant is Pinalate, obtained from Navelate orange in Spain, that is characterized by a bright yellow coloration in both peel and pulp, very similar to that of lemons and white grapefruits (**Fig. 3**). Carotenoid complement is however completely different in Pinalate fruits, since accumulated high levels of linear colorless carotenes (phytoene, phytofluene and  $\zeta$ -carotene) and the concentration of xanthophylls is greatly reduced, generating thus a deficiency in ABA content in the peel. These data suggest that Pinalate may have a potential blockage at the level of  $\zeta$ -carotene desaturation, either in ZDS or in ZDS-associated activities (Rodrigo *et al.* 2003).

Changes in carotenoid content and composition during fruit development and maturation have been studied in some orange varieties (Eilati et al. 1975; Kato et al. 2004; Rodrigo et al. 2004; Xu et al. 2006a; Matsumoto et al. 2007; Fanciullino et al. 2008). During the fruit green-stages, orange peel displayed a carotenoid profile characteristic of chloroplast-containing tissue, being lutein ( $\varepsilon$ , $\beta$ -xanthophyll), trans-violaxanthin,  $\beta$ -carotene and neoxanthin the main carotenoids. During the transition form chloroplast to chromoplast, chlorophylls are progressively degraded and carotenoids decreased, to reach a minimum at which the fruit develops a yellow coloration just before the massive build up of carotenoids takes place. Fruit of most orange varieties accumulates  $\beta$ , $\beta$ -xanthophylls, being 9-cis-violaxanthin the main carotenoid in the peel of mature fruit (Table 1). Carotenoid content in the pulp of immature orange fruit is very low and accumulated almost exclusively lutein and transviolaxanthin. During fruit maturation, carotenoid content increased continuously but throughout the whole period was lower than in the peel. The major xanthophyll is also 9-cisviolaxanthin, which reached its maximum at the full-colored stage (Kato et al. 2004; Rodrigo et al. 2004; Alquézar et al.



2008).

#### Mandarins and its hybrids

Mandarins, also named as tangerines, are the most highly colored Citrus fruits, characterized by a bright orange-reddish color (**Fig. 4**). Mandarin fruits are very heterogeneous in terms of degreening rate and full coloration at maturity, since they comprise a large group of genetically different species and mutations. **Fig. 4** shows external and internal appearance of mature fruits of three typical mandarin varieties from the Clementine group: Clemenules, Fortune and Nova, where differences in fruit color are clearly noticeable.

The pattern of carotenoid accumulation in mandarin fruit is similar but more complex than that of orange fruit. At maturity more that twenty different carotenoids and xanthophylls can be detected in mandarin peel and pulp, and their content are also higher than in the corresponding tissue of oranges. Table 2 summarizes carotenoid content and composition in peel and pulp of fruits from selected mandarin varieties. Total carotenoid content varies widely between cultivars, e.g. peel of Clementine mandarin contains fourtimes less total carotenoids than that of Satsuma. As in orange fruits, mandarins accumulated carotenoids mainly in the peel (up to 94% of total in Dancy mandarin) being  $\beta$ , $\beta$ xanthophylls the major constituents (68-90% of total carotenoids). The relative concentration of violaxanthin varied among cultivars and tissues, and the cis-isomer is by far more abundant than the trans-isomer.

Evolution of carotenoid content and composition during maturation of mandarin fruit is similar to that of orange fruit. In the peel of green fruit, chloroplastic carotenoids were the most abundant and after the color break increased the concentration of  $\beta$ , $\beta$ -xanthophylls in both peel and pulp. A difference between mandarins and oranges is the higher accumulation of the xanthophyll  $\beta$ -cryptoxanthin and apocarotenoids in fruits of mandarins. B-Cryptoxanthin accumulates in both peel and pulp of mandarin fruit and contributes to the intense coloration of these tissues. The  $C_{30}$ apocarotenoids  $\beta$ -citraurin and  $\beta$ -citraurinene are especially abundant in the peel where provide the distinctive orangereddish pigmentation of mandarin fruits. The relative proportion of the red  $\beta$ -citraurin and the orange  $\beta$ -cryptoxanthin are thought to be the main contributors to the color in Dancy mandarin, even tough violaxanthin comprised more than half of total carotenoids (Gross 1987). Other example of deep coloration is the juice of Michal mandarin which appears to be related to high percentages of  $\beta$ -cryptoxanthin and zeaxanthin in pulp (Farin et al. 1983). It is interesting to mention that the differences in carotenoid composition between flavedo and pulp are more remarkable in mandarin than in oranges fruits (Table 2).

Carotenoid biosynthesis and regulation in citrus fruits. Alquézar et al.

Table 2 Carotenoid content and composition in the peel and pulp of mature fruits of selected mandarin and mandarin hybrids cultivars.

Cultivar		μg/g FW	Carotenoids	Reference
Mandarin				
Clementine	Peel	74.6	32% β-citraurin	Farin et al. 1983
			16% β-citraurinene	
	Pulp	24.9	36% β-cryptoxanthin	Fanciullino et al. 2006
			35% violaxanthin	
Dancy	Peel	295.0	51% violaxanthin	Farin et al. 1983
			8% β-citraurin	
	Pulp	18.5	32% anteraxanthin	Stewart 1977b
			23% β-cryptoxanthin	
Satsuma	Peel	250.0-300.0	44% phytoene	Ikoma <i>et al.</i> 2001;
			19% β-cryptoxanthin	Kato <i>et al.</i> 2004
			19% violaxanthin	
	Pulp	21.0-34.0	55% β-cryptoxanthin	Ikoma et al. 2001; Kato et al. 2004; Fanciullino et al. 2006
			13% zeaxanthin	
Mandarin hyb	rids			
Hansen	Pulp	39.4	29% β-cryptoxanthin	Fanciullino et al. 2006
			19% zeaxanthin	
Michal	Peel	174.1	30% violaxanthin	Farin <i>et al.</i> 1983
			26% β-citraurin	
	Pulp	13.7	41% β-cryptoxanthin	Farin <i>et al.</i> 1983
			9% zeaxanthin	
Murcott	Pulp	44.9	33% β-cryptoxanthin	Stewart 1977b
			24% anteraxanthin	
			22% violaxanthin	
Orlando	Pulp	12.1	47% anteraxanthin	Stewart 1977b
			20% β-cryptoxanthin	
Robinson	Pulp	20.3	35% violaxanthin	Stewart 1977b
			28% β-cryptoxanthin	

#### Lemons

Lemon fruits are characterized by a typical yellow color, which may vary from a green-yellowish color in the pulp of Eureka to the intense yellow of Verna peel. The phylogenetic origin of lemons is unknown, but analysis using molecular markers suggests that may be an hybrid between citron and sour orange (Nicolosi *et al.* 2000).

During the transition from the green to the yellow stage, total carotenoid content decreased in the flavedo and pulp of lemon fruits, and at maturity the carotenoid compliment is less complex that in other Citrus species (Yokoyama and Vandercook 1967; Kato *et al.* 2004; Matsumoto *et al.* 2007). Linear colourless carotenes were the main pigments in the peel of lemon fruits; for example phytofluene accounted around 18 and 22% of total carotenoids in flavedo and pulp of Eureka lemons, respectively, and phytoene reached up to 86% of total carotenoids in Lisbon. Chloroplastic carotenoids were also presented at minor proportions, as lutein (around 15  $\mu$ g/g FW),  $\beta$ -carotene (around 8  $\mu$ g/g FW) and  $\alpha$ -carotene (around 5  $\mu$ g/g FW). In the pulp, the concentra-

 
 Table 3 Carotenoid content and composition in the peel and pulp of mature fruits of selected lemon (*Citrus limon* Burm F.) cultivars.

Cultivar	µg∕g FW	Carotenoids	Reference
Eureka			
Peel	1.4	18% phytofluene	Yokohama and
		17% ζ-carotene	Vandercook 1967
Pulp	0.6	30% β-cryptoxanthin	Yokohama and
		22% phytofluene	Vandercook 1967
Eureka Fr.			
Pulp	0.3	56% β-cryptoxanthin	Fanciullino et al. 2006
		43% ζ-carotene	
Lisbon			
Peel	90.0	86% phytoene	Kato et al. 2004
Pulp	traces		Kato et al. 2004
Meyer			
Pulp	1.3	68% β-cryptoxanthin	Fanciullino et al. 2006
		15% β-carotene	
Volkamer			
Pulp	6.5	38% β-cryptoxanthin	Fanciullino et al. 2006
		15% violaxanthin	

tion of carotenoids is almost negligible (Table 3).

In fruits of other lemon varieties, as Meyer, Eureka Fr. and Volkamer, the most abundant carotenoid in the peel or pulp was  $\beta$ -cryptoxanthin (**Table 3**). Although the cause of this circumstance is not fully understood, it may be explained considering that these varieties are not true lemons, and may be originated from crosses with mandarins or oranges as parental, harbouring  $\beta$ -cryptoxanthin accumulation (Morton 1987; Nicolosi *et al.* 2000).

#### Pummelos

Pummelo or shaddock (*Citrus grandis* Osbeck) is considered one of the three true species of the genus Citrus. The fruit surpasses all other citrus fruit in size and, depending on the varieties, shows distinct morphological characteristics: as seedy or seedless, yellow, red and colorless (white). Carotenoid content and composition in these fruits had received little attention. **Table 4** summarizes results from studies conducted in ripe pummelo fruit of white (Goliath and Yuhuan)

**Table 4** Carotenoid content and composition in the peel and pulp of mature fruits of selected pummelo (*Citrus grandis* Osbeck) cultivars.

Cultivar	μg/g FW	Carotenoids	Reference
Chandler			
Peel	19.3	32% lutein	Gross 1987
		22% violaxanthin	
Pulp	13.2	90% lycopene	Gross 1987
		5% β-carotene	
Chuzhou I	Early Red		
Peel	4.8	31% phytoene	Xu et al. 2006a
		25% phytofluene	
Pulp	5.3	51% lycopene	Xu et al. 2006a
		20% β-carotene	
Goliath			
Peel	5.0	67% phytofluene	Gross and Timberg 1983
Pulp	0.4	23% lutein	Gross and Timberg 1983
		19% phytofluene	
		12% β-carotene	
Yuhuan			
Pulp	traces	35% phytoene	Xu et al. 2006a
		35% lutein	

and red-fleshed (Chandler and Chuzhou Early Red) varieties. Flavedo and pulp of most white pummelo fruits accumulated almost exclusively linear (phytoene, phytofluene and lycopene) and bicyclic ( $\beta$ -carotene) carotenes, explaining the low coloration of these tissues. Carotenoid content in the flavedo ranged between 5 and 15 µg/g FW, while in the pulp it is almost zero. Two main features distinguish red pummelo fruit: the presence of lycopene, even at low concentrations but conferring the characteristic color, and that the carotenoid content is similar in both peel and pulp tissues (**Table 4**).

Contrary to the pattern of carotenoid accumulation during maturation of colored Citrus fruits, in pummelo the maximum carotenoid content was detected in green fruits and decreased thereafter. In the pulp, carotenoid content is very low and constant throughout the ripening process (Gross and Timberg 1983; Matsumoto *et al.* 2007).

### Grapefruits

Grapefruit (*Citrus paradisi* Macf.) is considered a natural hybrid between a female pummelo and sweet orange. Attending to fruit color, grapefruits may be classified in two main groups: 1) fruits with pale to yellow pulp, and 2) fruits of pigmented pulp. In the latter, pulp color varies greatly from slight pinky to deep red (**Fig. 5**). The peel may also display red colorations although normally of less intensity than the pulp. Grapefruit is the *Citrus* species with the largest number of red mutants (Xu *et al.* 2006a).

Studies of carotenoids in grapefruits have been mainly focussed in mature fruits (**Table 5**) and evolution of carotenoid content and composition during ripening has received less attention. The seedless Marsh is the most cultivated variety in the world and the best characterized. During the transition from chloroplast to chromoplast, the content of total carotenoids in the flavedo decreased but increased the concentration of phytoene and phytofluene. In the pulp, phytoene and phytofluene also increased and may reach up to 75% of total carotenoids at the ripen stage (Yokoyama and White 1967; Banet *et al.* 1981; Xu *et al.* 2006a). Low levels of  $\zeta$ - and  $\beta$ -carotene, and some xanthophylls, as 9-*cis*-violaxathin and auroxanthin, have been also detected in Marsh fruit (Banet *et al.* 1981; Fanciullino *et al.* 2006; Xu *et al.* 2006a).

Early investigations on carotenoids in red-grapefruits documented the presence of lycopene and  $\beta$ -carotene as the pigments responsible for the coloration of these fruits (Matlack 1935; Khan and Mackinney 1953). A correlation between lycopene content and the intensity of red coloration in pulp was established (Matlack 1935; Ting and Deszyck 1958). In addition to lycopene and  $\beta$ -carotene, which may account from 70 to 95% of total carotenoids, phytoene, phytofluene and  $\zeta$ -carotene have also been detected in the pulp of different red grapefruit varieties (Khan and Mackinney 1953; Curl and Bailey 1957b; Gross 1987; Fanciullino *et al.* 2006; Xu *et al.* 2006b; Matsumoto *et al.* 2007). In the flavedo predominates colorless carotenes (64-95% of total), with reduced levels of xanthophylls, mainly violaxanthin



Fig. 5 External and internal appearance of mature white and red grapefruits (*Citrus paradisi* Macf.). 
 Table 5 Carotenoid content and composition in the peel and pulp of mature fruits of selected different grapefruit (*Citrus paradisi* Macf.) cul

Cultivar	µg∕g FW	Carotenoids	Reference
Marsh			
Peel	0.9-1.5	30-50% phytoene	Yokoyama and White
		5-24% phytofluene	1967; Xu <i>et al</i> . 2006a
		5-16% violaxanthin	
Pulp	traces-2.0	17-63% phytoene	Banet et al. 1981;
		0-15% phytofluene	Fanciullino et al. 2006;
		0-18% zeaxanthin	Xu et al. 2006a
Ray Ruby			
Pulp	9.4	73% lycopene	Fanciullino et al. 2006
		12% β-carotene	
Ruby Red			
Peel	7.5-10.4	40-47% phytoene	Curl and Bailey 1957;
		14-17% phytofluene	Xu et al. 2006a
		1-24% violaxanthin	
Pulp	1.1-8.2	27-43% β-carotene	Curl and Bailey 1957;
		16-22% phytoene	Xu et al. 2006a
		2-40% lycopene	
Star Ruby			
Peel	62.3	47% phytoene	Xu et al. 2006a
		19% lycopene	
Pulp	17.0-53.0	48-57% lycopene	Fanciullino et al. 2006;
		13-16% β-carotene	Xu et al. 2006
		20% phytoene	

and zeaxanthin (Gross 1987; Xu *et al.* 2006a). It is noteworthy that in some red grapefruits, fruit tissues that usually do not accumulate carotenoids, as albedo, are also coloured and contain lycopene and  $\beta$ -carotene (Xu *et al.* 2006b). As indicated in pummello, carotenoid content in flavedo and pulp of red grapefruits is very similar (Gross 1987; Xu *et al.* 2006a).

#### THE PATHWAY OF CAROTENOID BIOSYNTHESIS

The pathway of carotenoid biosynthesis in higher plants is now well characterized (Fig. 6). Carotenoids are synthesized in plastids (chloroplasts or chromoplasts), from nuclearencoded enzymes. Carotenoids are derived by consecutive condensations of the five carbon precursor isopentenyl diphosphate (IPP) and its isomer dimethylallyl diphosphate (DMAPP). In higher plants, these precursors are synthesized by two independent metabolic routes; the mevalonate (MVA) pathway which occurs in the cytoplasm and the more recently characterized methyl-D-erythritol 4-phosphate (MEP) pathway, taking place in the plastids. In light-grown plants, carotenoids are produced from MEP-derived precursors and the MVA pathway contributes to carotenoid biosynthesis in other instances, such as in etiolated tissues (Rodríguez-Concepción and Boronat 2002; Rodríguez-Concepción et al. 2004). The first reaction of the MEP pathway is the production of deoxyxylulose 5-phosphate (DXP), catalyzed by DXP synthase (DXS) using pyruvate and glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate as substrates. Intramolecular rearrangement and subsequent reduction of DXP by the enzyme DXP reductoisomerase yields MEP, considered the first committed precursor of the pathway. MEP is converted to IPP and DMAPP via different intermediates. Geranylgeranyl pyrophosphate (GGPP), a C<sub>20</sub> molecule resulting by condensation of IPP, is the substrate and the entry point for carotenoid biosynthesis (Fraser and Bramley 2004; Bouvier et al. 2005).

The first committed step of carotenoid biosynthesis is catalyzed by the enzyme phytoene synthase (PSY), which converts two molecules of GGPP into phytoene via the intermediate prephytoene pyrophosphate. The colorless phytoene ( $C_{40}$ ) undergoes four desaturation reactions catalysed by phytoene desaturase (PDS) and  $\zeta$ -carotene desaturase (ZDS), thereby lengthening the carbon doubled-bonded series and yielding the orange prolycopene. These desaturations are connected to the photosynthetic electron transport



Fig. 6 Schematic diagram of the carotenoid biosynthesis pathway in plants. ABA, abscisic acid;  $\beta$ -CHX,  $\beta$ -carotene hydroxylase;  $\epsilon$ -CHX,  $\epsilon$ carotene hydroxylase; CMK, 4-diphosphocytidyl-methylerythritol kinase; CMS, 4-diphosphocytidyl-methylerythritol synthase; CRTISO, carotene isomerase; DXP, 1-deoxy-D-xylulose 5-phosphate; DXR, DXP reductoisomerase; DXS, 1-deoxy-D-xylulose 5-phosphate-synthase; GGPP, geranylgeranyl diphosphate; GGPS, geranylgeranyl diphosphate synthase; G-3-P, D-glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate; HDR; hydroxymethylbutenyl 4-diphosphate reductase; HDS, hydroxymethylbutenyl 4-diphosphate synthase;  $\beta$ -LCY, lycopene  $\beta$ -cyclase;  $\epsilon$ -LCY, lycopene  $\epsilon$ -cyclase; MCS, methylerythritol 2,4-cyclodiphosphate synthase; MEP, 2-C-methyl-Derythritol 4-phosphate; NCED, 9-*cis*-epoxycarotenoid dioxygenase; NSY, neoxanthin synthase; PDS, phytoene desaturase; PSY, phytoene syn-thase; PTOX, plastid terminal oxidase; VDE, violaxanthin de-epoxidase; ZDS,  $\zeta$ -carotene desaturase; ZEP, zeaxanthin epoxidase.

chain via plastoquinone. In addition, the activity of a recently characterized  $\zeta$ -carotene isomerase (Z-ISO) catalyzes the *cis*- to *trans*- conversion of the product of PDS (Li *et al.*) 2007). Prolycopene is subsequently isomerised to the transform by carotene cis-trans-isomerase (CRTISO). Photoisomerization can substitute the CRTISO activity in chloroplasts (Park et al. 2002; Isaacson et al. 2004). The subsequent cyclization of the linear lycopene to yield  $\beta$ -carotene and  $\alpha$ -carotene is the first branching point in the pathway. The formation of  $\beta$ -carotene is catalysed by a single activity, lycopene  $\beta$ -cyclase ( $\beta$ -LCY), whereas in the case of  $\alpha$ -carotene two different enzymes,  $\beta$ -LCY and lycopene  $\varepsilon$ -cyclase ( $\epsilon$ -LCY), are involved.  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -carotene are sequentially hydroxylated at the ring by  $\varepsilon$ - and  $\beta$ -carotene hydroxylases ( $\hat{\epsilon}$ -CHX and  $\beta$ -CHX) yielding oxygenated xanthophylls such as lutein ( $\beta$ , $\epsilon$ -xanthophyll derived from  $\alpha$ -carotene) and  $\beta$ -cryptoxanthin and zeaxanthin ( $\beta$ , $\beta$ -xanthophylls derived from  $\beta$ -carotene). The hydroxylated  $\beta$ -ionone rings of zeaxanthin can be modified by zeaxanthin epoxidase (ZEP) to form violaxanthin via anteraxanthin. De-epoxidation of violaxanthin to form zeaxanthin is catalyzed by violaxanthin de-epoxidase (VDE), which is activated by light. This reversible reaction is known as the "xanthophyll cycle", which is involved in the dissipation of excess of light energy and hence plays a central role in light stress management. One epoxy ring of violaxanthin can be rearranged to form an allenic bond by neoxanthin synthase (NSY) to generate neoxanthin. All carotenoid biosynthetic enzymes are nuclear encoded, translated as precursors and imported posttranslationally into the plastids (Sandmann 1994; Fraser and Bramley 2004; Bouvier *et al.* 2005).

#### Carotenoid biosynthetic genes in citrus fruits

Isolation and characterization of carotenoid biosynthetic genes in citrus have been recently reported (Kato *et al.* 2004; Rodrigo *et al.* 2004). Most studies have correlated the evolution of carotenoids content during fruit ripening with the accumulation of transcript of carotenoids biosynthetic genes. Different patterns of gene expression have been established, suggesting a complex transcriptional coordination in the metabolic events driven carotenogenesis in citrus fruit.

Two PSY genes in the Citrus genome have been inferred (Ikoma et al. 2001; Kim et al. 2003; Fanciullino et al. 2007; Tao et al. 2007). However, PSY sequences so far isolated are 97-100% identical. PSY is imported into plastids and peripherally associated to the membrane (Inoue et al. 2006) and its catalytic activity has been tested (Kim et al. 2003). Expression of PSY during fruit maturation appears to be a key regulatory step, as might determinate the entry of metabolic precursors to the massive increase of carotenoids. PSY transcript accumulation is lower in the pulp than in the flavedo and is well related to carotenoid content (Kato et al. 2004; Rodrigo et al. 2004; Tao et al. 2007; Alquézar et al. 2008; Fanciullino et al. 2008). Accumulation of PSY transcript has been also detected in vegetative tissues (Ikoma et al. 2001; Rodrigo et al. 2004). In tomato, two PSY genes have been detected, PSY-1 encodes a fruit ripening specific isoform, whilst PSY-2 predominates in green tissues and was not expressed in ripening fruit (Bramley 2002).

In citrus *PDS* gene is believed to belong to a low-copy number gene family (Kita et al. 2001; Fanciullino et al. 2007). On the contrary, in tomato and pepper fruits PDS is a single copy gene (Fraser and Bramley 2004). Partial or fulllength sequences of PDS had been isolated from C. maxima, C. paradisi, C. sinensis, C. unshiu and C. limon, sharing 98-100% of identity. In vitro assays indicated that two processed forms of PDS are mainly targeted to the soluble fraction of plastids, while a minor unprocessed form appears peripherally associated to the outer surface of the membrane (Inoue et al. 2006). In other plant species, PDS exist in two forms, one bounded to the membrane and other stroma-associated (Lopez et al. 2008). Expression of PDS gene during fruit maturation has been analyzed in different orange cultivars (Kato et al. 2004; Rodrigo et al. 2004; Alquézar et al. 2008; Fanciullino et al. 2008), Satsuma mandarin (Kita et al. 2001; Kato et al. 2004) and Lisbon lemon (Kato et al. 2004). The abundance of PDS mRNA is low in the peel of green fruits, slightly increased during maturation to remain constant in the peel or to increase continuously in the pulp of mature fruit. In both tissues, flavedo and pulp, accumulation of *PDS* mRNAs was lower than that of *PSY*.

 $\zeta$ -carotene desaturase (*ZDS*) is thought to be in at least three copies in the citrus genome, with polymorphism in at least two of them (Fanciullino *et al.* 2007). Results obtained in the yellow orange Pinalate mutant, suggest that may exist two ZDS isoforms, one chloroplast- and one chromoplastspecific (Rodrigo *et al.* 2003). *ZDS* sequences from *C. maxima*, *C. paradisi*, *C. sinensis*, *C. unshiu*, *C. clementina* and *C. limon* show an overall identity from 97 to 100%. *ZDS* transcripts were detected in young and mature leaves (Rodrigo *et al.* 2004). In flavedo and pulp of orange, mandarin and lemon fruits, *ZDS* mRNAs increased progressively with fruit maturation (Kato *et al.* 2004; Rodrigo *et al.* 2004; Alquézar *et al.* 2008; Fanciullino *et al.* 2008).

Beside desaturases, other activities such as PTOX, or the isomerases CRTISO or Z-ISO, are necessary for the correct desaturation of phytoene to lycopene. In tomato or maize, a defective activity of any of these enzymes leads to alterations in carotenoid accumulation (Josse *et al.* 2000; Isaacson *et al.* 2002; Li *et al.* 2007). The expression of *PTOX* and *CRTISO* citrus homologous is low in green fruits. During fruit maturation, expression of *PTOX* increased in parallel with that of *PDS* and *ZDS* (Rodrigo *et al.* 2004; Alquézar *et al.* 2008), while that of *CRTISO* remained constant or even decreased (Kato *et al.* 2004).

Two genes coding LCY had been identified in citrus fruits:  $\varepsilon$ -LCY and  $\beta$ -LCY. By RFLP analysis it has been established that  $\beta$ -*LCY* is present in a single locus in the citrus genome, while *ɛ*-LCY is present at one locus in C. maxima and C. medica genomes but at two loci in mandarin and other citrus genomes (Fanciullino et al. 2007). The nucleotide sequences of citrus  $\beta$ -LCY are at least 98% identical and code enzymes 98-100% identical.  $\varepsilon$ -LCY and  $\beta$ -LCY genes code proteins 55-56% homologous (38-39% identical). The ability of both enzymes to cycle lycopene has been recently confirmed (Inoue et al. 2006). β-LĈY forms two  $\beta$ -rings in both extremes of the lineal molecule of lycopene, yielding  $\beta$ -carotene, and  $\epsilon$ -LCY introduce a single  $\epsilon$ -ring yielding  $\delta$ -carotene. In ripening citrus fruits, the expression of  $\varepsilon$ -*LCY* is down-regulated, while that of  $\beta$ -*LCY* is constitutive or increased slightly (Kato et al. 2004; Rodrigo et al. 2004; Alquézar et al. 2008; Fanciullino et al. 2008). The expression of both LCY genes are also detected in leaves (Rodrigo et al. 2004). Recently, a citrus gene with high homology to a chromoplast-specific  $\beta$ -LCY from tomato (Ronen 2000) has been isolated. By functional assays in E. coli the ability of the encoded protein to convert lycopene into  $\beta$ -carotene has been confirmed. The expression of this new  $\beta$ -LCY is strongly induced during chloro- to chromoplast transformation, suggesting a role in the massive accumulation of  $\beta$ , $\beta$ -xanthophylls during fruit maturation (Alquézar 2008).

In the genome of citrus,  $\beta$ -CHX gene is thought to be monolocus with two or three alleles (Kim et al. 2001; Fanciullino et al. 2007). In other fruits, as tomato, a green-specific and a flower/fruit-specific  $\beta$ -CHX genes have been detected (Hirschberg 2001). Citrus  $\beta$ -CHX is an integral membrane protein but whether it is directly associated or participating in a multienzymatic complex remains to be determined (Inoue *et al.* 2006). Expression of  $\beta$ -CHX gene increased substantially during maturation of orange, mandarin and lemon fruits (Kato et al. 2004; Rodrigo et al. 2004; Alquézar et al. 2008; Fanciullino et al. 2008). In addition, transcripts accumulation was hardly detectable in leaves and tissues from green fruits. Recently, it has been described the expression of a putative citrus  $\varepsilon$ -CHX, which is down-regulated during ripening of orange fruit (Alquézar et al. 2008)

ZEP gene is supposed to be present at two different loci in Citrus genome, both showing polymorphism (Fanciullino *et al.* 2007). cDNAs clones of ZEP highly homologues have been obtained from C. *unshiu*, C. *maxima*, C. *sinensis* and C. *limon*. The expression of this gene increased during maturation of orange, mandarin and lemon fruits (Kato *et al.* 2004; Rodrigo *et al.* 2004; Fanciullino *et al.* 2008; Alquézar *et al.* 2008).

# Regulation of carotenoid biosynthesis in citrus fruits

Understanding how the expression of the different genes of carotenoid biosynthesis are coordinated during fruit maturation, and how the differences and singularities in peel and pulp color between fruits of the different cultivars and mutants are linked to altered mechanism of gene expression are primary goals for *Citrus* breeding. Application of modern molecular biology and genetic engineering strategies, and more recently, high-throughput genomic technologies, are now helping us to elucidate these processes and how are regulated.

The peel of immature citrus fruit shows a carotenoid profile characteristic of chloroplast-containing tissue, being lutein ( $\epsilon$ , $\beta$ -xanthophyll) the main carotenoid. A noticeable

decrease in lutein occurs at the onset of fruit coloration, with a parallel accumulation of specific  $\beta$ , $\beta$ -xanthophylls, being 9-cis-violaxanthin the main carotenoid in the peel and pulp of mature orange-colored fruits, as oranges and mandarins. The massive increase in total carotenoids and  $\beta$ , $\beta$ xanthophylls occurring during the transition from chloroplast to chromoplast appears to be coordinated by concomitant changes in gene expression. First, a substantial induction of phytoene synthase (PSY), phytoene desaturase (PDS),  $\zeta$ -carotene desaturase (ZDS), and  $\beta$ -carotene hydroxylase  $(\beta$ -CHX) gene expression (Kato *et al.* 2004; Rodrigo *et al.* 2004; Alquézar *et al.* 2008). Second, the shift from the  $\varepsilon$ , $\beta$ branch to the  $\beta$ , $\beta$ -branch of the pathway is paralleled with a down regulation of the lycopene  $\varepsilon$ -cyclase ( $\varepsilon$ -LCY) gene expression. And third, in mandarin fruit, an up-regulation of lycopene  $\beta$ -cyclase ( $\beta$ -LCY) gene expression is also taking place (Kato et al. 2004). In the pulp of oranges and mandarins fruits, total carotenoid content is usually lower than in the peel (Tables 1-5), in accordance with a reduced expression of most carotenoid biosynthetic genes (Kato et al. 2004; Alquézar et al. 2008). These results suggest that a complex coordination among different steps of the pathway may operate to determine the final color and carotenoid compliment in citrus fruits. Evidences suggest that differences may exist among the different Citrus species and varieties, but *PSY* and  $\beta$ -*CHX* play central roles in rate of fruit coloration and in carotenoid accumulation.

Studies of carotenoid gene expression in fruits of different Citrus species indicate that carotenoid accumulation and composition during maturation is highly regulated by the coordinated transcriptional activation of carotenoid biosynthetic genes, as it has been demonstrated in other fruits. These evidences also stress that the balance or relative expression profile between the expression of upstream and downstream genes of the pathway are also important factors for the diversity in fruit color and carotenoids content. For example, differences in the expression balance between carotene (*PSY*, *PDS*, *ZDS* and  $\beta$ -*LCY*) and xanthophyll biosynthetic genes ( $\beta$ -CHX and ZEP) have been related to  $\beta$ cryptoxanthin accumulation. The relative balance between the expression levels of carotene to xanthophyll genes was higher in Satsuma mandarins than in Valencia orange, which also accumulated higher concentration of  $\beta$ -cryptoxanthin (Kato et al. 2004). A similar relationship has been also found in ethylene-treated Satsuma fruits (Fujii et al. 2007). Other example is the massive accumulation of phytoene in flavedo of Lisbon lemon, which was correlated with a decrease in the transcript level of PDS (Kato et al. 2004). However, in other instances the phenotypic differences in fruit color could not be explained by transcriptional changes of carotenoid biosynthetic genes, suggesting that other still unknown regulatory mechanisms may be also involved (Fanciullino et al. 2008). Transcriptional, post-transcriptional and translational regulation of gene expression, catalytic activity and membrane-associated complexes have been postulated to be mechanism of regulation of carotenoid biosynthesis in other plants (Cunningham and Gantt 1998; Bramley 2002).

Recently, it has been reported that alterations in the expression of genes of the MEP pathway may be related to changes in fruit color and total carotenoid content. Changes in the levels of DXS have been reported in fruits of four orange varieties (Fanciullino et al. 2008). Furthermore, accumulation of lycopene in the pulp of the red-fleshed-mutant Cara Cara has been related with an enhanced expression of MEP genes, in particular HDS. In the mutant,  $\hat{\beta}$ -LCY was also up-regulated, suggesting a positive feedback regulatory mechanism of carotenoid biosynthesis (Alquézar et al. 2008). In other plants, biotechnological up-regulation of MEPrelated genes resulted in enhanced accumulation of carotenoids, indicating that precursor supply may be an additional control point of carotenoid biosynthesis (Estevez et al. 2001; Mahmoud and Croteau 2001; Botella-Pavía et al. 2004; Carretero-Paulet et al. 2006).

#### Carotenoid catabolism

The oxidative cleavage of carotenoids leads to the production of apocarotenoids. Enzymes catalyzing these reactions are generically recognized as carotenoid cleavage dioxygenases (CCDs). Three CCDs genes have been identified from citrus fruits, although catalytic activity of the encoded enzyme has only been confirmed in one of them (Kato et al. 2006; Agustí et al. 2007). Some citrus apocarotenoids, as βcitraurin, are genus specific (Fig. 2) and greatly contributes to fruit color.  $\beta$ -citraurin is believed to be a degradation product of either zeaxanthin or  $\beta$ -cryptoxanthin (Yokoyama and White 1966; Farin et al. 1983; Rodrigo et al. 2004; Rodrigo and Zacarías 2007), however, the enzyme/s involved in its biosynthesis is still unknown. The plant hormone abscisic acid (ABA) is also an apocarotenoid derivate. The key step in ABA biosynthesis is the oxidative cleavage of cis-epoxycarotenoids, by 9-cis-epoxycarotenoid dioxygena-ses (NCEDs), a subfamily of CCDs. The two NCED genes characterized in citrus fruits showed differential patterns of expression during normal fruit development and under stress conditions (Kato et al. 2006; Rodrigo et al. 2006; Agustí et al. 2007).

#### FACTORS AFFECTING CAROTENOID CONTENT AND COMPOSITION

It is generally accepted that the chloro- to chromoplast transformation is a major physiological event affected by environmental, nutritional and hormonal factors. This process comprises the progressive degradation of chlorophylls that is comparable with the senescence of vegetative tissues, and also the gradual accumulation of carotenoids (Goldschmidt 1988). Biogenesis of chromoplasts is then a unique metabolic process of agronomical and commercial relevance in citrus and that, under particular circumstances, may be reversible. Besides the genetic nature of citrus fruit to accumulate diversity of carotenoids in a specific pattern during ripening, there are a series of endogenous and exogenous factors that deeply influence carotenoid content and composition. High accumulation of lycopene in grapefruits growing under warm climatic conditions or the inability to develop full color of tropical-grown fruits, are two classical examples of the climatic influence in citrus fruit color. Following is a summary of the main effects of selected endogenous and exogenous factors on fruit color and carotenoid content and composition.

#### Hormones

The influence of phytohormones in the color of citrus fruits is long time recognized and has been the basis of selected agronomical treatments aimed to manipulated the rate of fruit coloration. Citrus fruits are classified as non-climateric, but studies with inhibitors of ethylene action revealed that ethylene plays a role in citrus fruit ripening (Goldschmidt et al. 1993; McCollum 2007). Ethylene is being used to stimulated postharvest fruit coloration for most than a century (Grierson et al. 1986). This commercial treatment is of particular interest in fruits of early season cultivars, since the pulp reaches maturity and becomes edible when the peel is still green. Ethylene application is also used to uniform external coloration in fruit submitted to external markets (Saltveit 1999). The efficiency of ethylene enhancing external fruit color is higher in more mature fruit (Stewart and Wheaton 1972; Eilati et al. 1975; Rodrigo and Zacarías 2007).

The ethylene-induced peel coloration is due to a dual coordinative effect on the stimulation of chlorophyll degradation and on carotenoid synthesis. Ethylene has been demonstrated to induce chlorophyll loss and chlorophyllase gene expression (Stewart and Wheaton 1972; Trebish *et al.* 1993; Jacob-Wilk *et al.* 1999). However, the involvement of the hormone in natural fruit degreening is questionable, as chlorophyllase has been shown to be constitutively expressed during the whole process (Jacob-Wilk *et al.* 1999). Isolation of two chlorophyllase genes expressed with different pattern suggests the existence of two independent pathways of chlorophyll breakdown, an ethylene-independent and other ethylene-dependant (Fujii *et al.* 2007; Tadeo *et al.* 2008).

In addition to chlorophylls disappearance, ethylene stimulates carotenoid accumulation. Earlier studies reported than ethylene improves the external color of orange fruit by inducing accumulation of orange and red carotenoids, such as  $\beta$ -cryptoxanthin and  $\beta$ -citraurin (Stewart and Wheaton 1972). During ethylene-induced coloration, the profile of carotenoid accumulation in Shamouti and Navel oranges are similar to that observed during natural ripening. Ethylenetreated fruits accumulated higher content of phytoene,  $\beta$ cryptoxanthin and  $\beta$ -citraurin than control fruits (Éilati *et al.* 1975; Rodrigo and Zacarías 2007). Ethylene also up-regulated the expression of PSY, ZDS and  $\beta$ -CHX genes, sustained o transiently increased the expression of PDS, PTOX,  $\beta$ -LCY and ZEP, and decreased the expression of  $\epsilon$ -LCY. Taken together, the results demonstrated that ethylene reproduces and accelerates the biochemical and molecular changes related to carotenoid biosynthesis naturally occurring during ripening of citrus fruits (Rodrigo and Zacarías 2007). However, the involvement of ethylene in the regulation of these processes during natural fruit ripening still needs further confirmation.

In contrast to ethylene, gibberellic acid (GA) is long time recognized as a retardant of fruit degreening (Cooper and Henry, 1968). Pre-harvest GA applications before the onset of color break is a common practice in many countries to delay the rate of fruit degreening in several Citrus species (Garcia-Luis et al. 1986; Porat et al. 2001). Field application of GA to mature green Clemenules mandarin resulted in a reduction of chlorophyll depletion and the maintenance of  $\varepsilon$ , $\beta$ -carotenoids in detriment of the flux through the  $\beta$ , $\beta$ -branch (Alós *et al.* 2006). Postharvest-GA treatment had a marked effect preventing accumulation of phytoene and phytofluene. The treatment partially suppressed ethylene-induced carotenoid changes, as accumulation of linear carotenes and  $\beta$ -citraurin, the decrease in lutein and all-Eviolaxanthin, but did not affect 9-cis-violaxanthin content. GA-application also counteracted the changes in carotenoid gene expression stimulated by ethylene (Rodrigo and Zacarías 2007). These results are consistent with observations obtained in field-grown Clementine mandarins in which gibberellins appears to operate via repression of the ethylene-induced color changes mediated by sugars (Iglesias et al. 2001).

The action of cytokinins delaying color changes in citrus fruits is controversial. In mature green oranges and mandarins, application of the synthetic cytokinin N<sup>6</sup>-benzyladenine counteracted the ethylene-induced chlorophyll degradation (Eilati *et al.* 1975), but it did not retarded natural fruit degreening (Goldschmidt *et al.* 1977; Garcia-Luis *et al.* 1986). However, cytokinins also reduced carotenoid accumulation during maturation in a fashion similar to that of gibberellins. Thus, it appears that the action of both retardant hormones is different in the metabolic events leading to chlorophyll degradation and carotenoid accumulation during fruit maturation

During natural maturation, the peel of citrus fruits accumulates large amounts of abscisic acid (Lafuente *et al.* 1997; Rodrigo *et al.* 2006; Agustí *et al.* 2007), which is derived from the oxidative cleavage of 9-*cis*-violaxanthin and 9'-*cis*-neoxanthin (Rodrigo *et al.* 2006). Evidences suggested that ABA may be involved in chromoplast development and/or the rate of fruit coloration in citrus fruit (Harris and Dugger 1986; Kato *et al.* 2006). In support of the hypothesis is the observation that the rate of peel degreening is delayed in an ABA-deficient orange mutant (Rodrigo *et al.* 2003). Ethylene-induced fruit degreening is also impaired in that mutant, suggesting that ABA may play a role in the sensitivity of flavedo to ethylene (Alférez and Zacarías 1999).

#### **Environmental factors**

It is well known that climactic factors play a pivotal role in development of fruit color and hence carotenoid content and composition. Data are fragmentary and disperse, and additional research is required to understand the influence of environmental conditions on carotenoid biosynthesis at the biochemical and molecular levels.

#### a) Temperature

Generally, optimal temperature for carotenogenesis in plants is relatively low. Citrus fruits have special temperature requirement not encountered in other fruits, as conversion of chloroplast into chromoplasts is induced by rather low temperatures (Gross 1987). A study conducted in Florida with Hamlin, Parson Brown and Pineapple oranges found that color break occurs at about 13°C (Stearns and Young 1942). Young and Erickson (1961) confirmed these findings and demonstrated that rate of fruit coloration depends on the reduction and on the length of time below a threshold temperature. A temperature day/night regime of 20/7°C induced bright orange fruits in Valencia. Higher day/night temperatures, however, resulted in less intense color. It was then suggested that night temperatures below 20°C stimulated xanthophyll accumulation. Meredith and Young (1969) working with Redblush grapefruit and Ruby blood sweet orange, indicated that low day/nigh temperature (16/5°C) are required for carotenoid formation, but higher day/night temperatures (35/30°C) were necessary for lycopene formation. It is important to stress that temperature higher than 35°C also inhibited lycopene biosynthesis (Meredith and Young 1971). As a general rule, high temperatures produced fruit with low carotenoid content and high chlorophyll levels (Stearns and Young 1942; Young and Erickson 1961; Agusti 1999). Moreover, the main reddish pigment of the peel,  $\beta$ citraurin, is temperature sensitive, and its synthesis decrease at temperatures above 30°C (Stewart and Leuenberger 1976). More recently, a postharvest simulation of low orchard temperature increased carotenoid content and improved rind color of Nules Clementine mandarin (Barry and van Wyk 2006). All these observations explained the inability of citrus fruits grown in the tropics to develop their characteristic color, especially orange and mandarins, which acquire a greenish-pale peel coloration. However, under these environmental conditions the pulp develop the typical orange color, indicating that peel and pulp behave as separate organs with differential requirements and regulatory mechanism, at least for carotenoid biosynthesis (Tadeo et al. 2008).

The effect of whole tree temperature on carotenoid content may be mediated by the hormonal status of the root. Sonnen *et al.* (1979) analyzed the effect of two root temperatures (14 and 30°C) on carotenoid content in the peel of Satsuma mandarin. At low temperature, fruit degreening was faster and total carotenoids were higher and with a more complex pattern. It was then suggested that 12-14°C are the optimal temperature for  $\beta$ -cryptoxanthin,  $\beta$ -citraurin and violaxanthin synthesis. This requirement of low soil temperature for color development might be connected with the reduction of the color-retardant hormones gibberellins and cytokinins on the roots and hence for fruit supply (Eilati *et al.* 1969).

#### b) Light

Light is also an important factor for carotenoid synthesis, although it appears not to be an essential requirement, since the pulp may also accumulate diversity of carotenoids. Evidences accumulated over the years in fruits of oranges and mandarins cultivated in different countries, indicated that fruits located into the tree canopy developed low peel color than those located in the outer canopy, under a high light intensity (Sites and Reitz 1949; Iwagaki and Kudo 1977; Iwagaki 1981; Uchida *et al.* 1985; Casas and Mallent 1988). Uchida *et al.* (1985) reported that a reduction of light inten-

sity to 1.5% of normal, by bagging the fruits with blackcolored polyethylene-film, substantially reduced peel coloring. It has been also reported that citrus fruits exposed to illuminations lower than 40% of the usual, showed lower coloration and that the reduction in coloration was proportional to the reduction of irradiation (Iwagaki and Kudo 1977). Lewis and Coggins (1964) established that fruit exposed to 5% of the usual illumination had 42% less carotenoids compared to fruit exposed to normal illumination. These data suggested that citrus peel coloration is highly influenced by the quantity and the quality of the light received by the fruit.

Other results indicate that carotenoid content in the peel of Navel oranges located outer or inner the tree canopy was similar, but the disappearance of chlorophylls occurred earlier in the peel of the fruits from the outer canopy (Casas and Mallent 1988). Recently, it has been reported that shaded Hongshigan orange developed lower coloration that unshaded fruits and this effect was due to a rapid reduction of chlorophyll content and lower carotenoid content. After exposure to light, carotenoid content and  $\beta$ -cryptoxanthin were again recovered (Tao *et al.* 2005). It appears then that light is an environmental signal essential for carotenoid synthesis in citrus fruit during certain stage of fruit development.

The influence of light on fruit color and carotenoid content seem not to be the same among the different citrus cultivars, as opposite effects has been observed in orange and mandarins respect to red grapefruits. Meredith and Young (1969) reported a positive influence of reducing light intensity on Redblush grapefruit coloration. Fruits exposed to reduced light intensity accumulated higher lycopene content than control fruits. We have also observed that Star Ruby grapefruits located in the inner canopy presented a more intense red color that those of the outer canopy. Shaded external fruit resulted in an increased color and lycopene content. Analysis of carotenoid gene expression did not reveal significant changes between inner- and outer-grown fruit, suggesting that other factors are involved in the effect of light on carotenoid content (Alquézar 2008).

#### **Nutritional factors**

Large body of evidences demonstrated that nutrients play pivotal roles in citrus fruit coloration (Agustí 1999). Fertilization with high doses of nitrogen is long time recognized to delay degreening of citrus fruits (reviewed by Casas and Mallent 1988). Studies of dose-response in calamondin revealed that low nitrogen fertilization increased carotenoid content whereas it was reduced at higher concentrations (Gross et al. 1979). Nitrogen also affected internal fruit quality of Hamlin, Pinneaple and Valencia orange (Koo and Reese 1977). It is then well established that nitrogen repressed chloroplast to chromoplast transformation in the flavedo of citrus fruits, and thus its depletion is a requirement for color change (Iglesias et al. 2001). Alos et al. (2006) have observed that high level of nitrogen in Clemenules mandarin delayed color changes and chlorophyll disappearance. Carotenoid content was also reduced and their profile was the typical of green tissues, with high content of trans-violaxanthin, neoxanthin, lutein and  $\alpha$ -carotene, and lower levels of  $\beta$ -cryptoxanthin. These biochemical changes were concomitant with a delay in the expression of maturation-related carotenoid genes.

Rootstock is also an important factor for fruit quality and fruit color, and at least part of that influence may be related to an indirect effect on nutrients. Thus, scions on vigorous rootstocks have a higher hydraulic conductivity, allowing more mineral nutrients (e.g. nitrogen) to be transported to the leaves and fruits, and then the rate of ripening is delayed. Additional influence of the root-synthesized gibberellins or cytokinins can not be ruled out. The influence of irrigation on the content of carotenoids of the fruits may be also related to the nutrient balance. Valencia orange fruits from well irrigated trees accumulated more carotenoids than those under low irrigation (Koo and Reese 1977). Trickled irrigation of Valencia orange and Redblush grapefruit trees resulted in fruits with less carotenoids in the peel than that from flood irrigated trees. This effect has been associated with a better nitrogen uptake by the roots from trickle-irrigated tress. Contrary, lycopene content increased in Redblush grapefruit fruits from trickle irrigated tress (Huff *et al.* 1981).

Besides nitrogen, sugars are major effectors of maturation in *Citrus*. Results obtained using *in vitro* culture of isolated peel segments of citrus fruits demonstrated that accumulation of sugars stimulated peel degreening (Huff 1983, 1984). This effect was reversible, as peel re-greening was induced by depletion of sugar content. Further confirmation of these results was obtained by whole-tree experiments, in which it was concluded that conversion from chloroplast to chromoplast required as a first step reduction of nitrogen and subsequently is stimulated by sugars. This nutrient balance is connected with hormonal signals, as sugar-induced color changes are mediated by ethylene, and gibberellins may be repressors of the ethylene-sugar interaction (Iglesias *et al.* 2001).

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Work in the authors' laboratories has been funded by research grants from the Spanish Ministry of Education and Science (AGL2003-01304 and AGL2006-09496) and the Generalitat Valenciana. We also thank Amparo Beneyto for the technical support, patient and dedication over the years.

#### REFERENCES

- Agustí J, Zapater M, Iglesias DJ, Cercós M, Tadeo FR, Talón M (2007) Differential expression of putative 9-cis-epoxycarotenoid dioxygenases and abscisic acid accumulation in water stressed vegetative and reproductive tissues of citrus. *Plant Science* 72, 85-94
- Agusti M (1999) Preharvest factors affecting postharvest quality of citrus fruit. In. Schirra M (Ed) Advances in Postharvest Diseases and Disorders Control of Citrus Fruit, Research Singpost, Trivandrum, India, pp 1-34
- Alférez F, Zacarías L (1999) Interaction between ethylene and abscisic acid in the regulation of citrus fruit maturation. In: Kannellis AK, Chang C, Klee H, Blecker AB, Pech JC, Grierson D (Eds) *Biology and Biotechnology of the Plant Hormone Ethylene II*, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, The Netherlands, pp 183-184
- Alós E, Cercós M, Rodrigo MJ, Zacarías L, Talón M (2006) Regulation of color break in citrus fruits. Changes in pigment profiling and gene expression induced by gibberellins and nitrate, two ripening retardants. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 54, 4888-4895
- Alquézar B (2008) Biochemical and molecular characterization of carotenoid biosynthesis in citrus fruits. PhD thesis, University of Valencia, Spain, 257 pp
- Alquézar B, Rodrigo MJ, Zacarías L (2008) Regulation of carotenoid biosynthesis during fruit maturation in the red-fleshed orange mutant Cara Cara. *Phytochemistry* 69, 1997-2007
- Banet E, Romojaro F, Llorente S (1981) Evolución de pigmentos fotosintéticos en flavedo y pulpa de pomelo Marsh. Anales de Edafologia y Agrobiologia 40, 259-267 (in Spanish)
- Barry GH, van Wyk AA (2006) Low-temperature cold shock may induce rind colour development of 'Nules Clementine' mandarin (*Citrus reticulata* Blanco) fruit. *Postharvest Biology and Technology* 40, 82-88
- Botella-Pavía P, Besumbes O, Phillips MA, Carretero-Paulet L, Boronat A, Rodríguez-Concepción M (2004) Regulation of carotenoid biosynthesis in plants: evidence for a key role of hydroxymethylbutenyl diphosphate reductase in controlling the supply of plastidial isoprenoid precursors. *The Plant Journal* 40, 188-199
- Botella-Pavía P, Rodríguez-Concepción M (2006) Carotenoid biotechnology in plants for nutritionally improved foods. *Physiologia Plantarum* 126, 369-381
- Bouvier F, Rahier A, Camara B (2005) Biogenesis, molecular regulation and function of plant isoprenoids. *Progress in Lipid Research* 44, 357-429
- Bouvier F, Suire C, Mutterer J, Camara B (2003) Oxidative remodeling of chromoplast carotenoids: identification of the carotenoid dioxygenase CsCCD and CsZCD genes involved in Crocus secondary metabolite biogenesis. Plant Cell 15, 47-62
- Bramley P (2002) Regulation of carotenoid formation during tomato fruit ripening and development. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 53, 2107-2113
- Carretero-Paulet L, Cairo A, Botella-Pavía P, Besumbes O, Campos N, Boronat A, Rodríguez-Concepción M (2006) Enhanced flux through the methylerythritol 4-phosphate pathway in *Arabidopsis* plants overexpressing deoxyxylulose 5-phosphate reductoisomerase. *Plant Molecular Biology* 62, 683-695

- **Casas A, Mallent MD** (1988) El color de los frutos citricos. II. Factores que influyen en el color (continuacion). Influencia de la fertilización, del portainjerto y otros. *Revista de Agroquímica y Tecnología de Alimentos* **28**, 344-356 (in Spanish)
- Cooper WC, Henry WH (1968) Effect of growth regulators on the coloring and abscission in citrus fruit. *Israel Journal of the Agriculture Research* 18, 161-174
- Cunningham FX, Gantt E (1998) Genes and enzymes of carotenoid biosynthesis in plants. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology 48, 557-589
- Curl AL (1967) Apo-10'-violaxanthal, a new carotenoid from Valencia orange peels. Journal of Food Science 32, 141-147
- Curl AL, Bailey GF (1957a) Tangerine carotenoids the carotenoids of tangerines. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 5, 605-608
- Curl AL, Bailey GF (1957b) The carotenoids of Ruby Red grapefruit. Food Research 22, 63-68
- Curl AL, Bailey GF (1961) The carotenoids of Navel oranges. Journal of Food Science 26, 442-447
- DellaPenna D, Pogson BJ (2006) Vitamin synthesis in plants: tocopherols and carotenoids. Annual Review of Plant Biology 57, 711-738
- Demmig-Adams B, Gilmore AM, Adams WW (1996) Carotenoids 3. In vivo functions of carotenoids in higher plants. The FASEB Journal 10, 403-412
- Dhuique Mayer C, Caris Veyrat C, Ollitrault P, Curk F, Amiot MJ (2005) Varietal and interspecific influence on micronutrient contents in citrus from the Mediterranean area. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 53, 2140-2145
- Eilati SK, Goldschmidt EE, Monselise SP (1969) Hormonal control of colour changes in orange peel. *Experientia* 25, 209-210
- Eilati SK, Budowski P, Monselise SP (1975) Carotenoid changes in the "Shamouti" orange peel during chloroplast-chromoplast transformation on and off the tree. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 26, 624-632
- Estevez JM, Cantero A, Reindl A, Reichler S, Leon P (2001) 1-Deoxy-Dxylulose-5-phosphate synthase, a limiting enzyme for plastidic isoprenoid biosynthesis in plants. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* **276**, 22901-22909
- Fanciullino AL, Cercós M, Dhuique Mayer C, Froelicher Y, Talón M, Ollitrault P, Morillon R (2008) Changes in carotenoid content and biosynthetic gene expression in juice sacs of four orange varieties (*Citrus sinensis*) differing in flesh fruit color. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 56, 3628-3638
- Fanciullino AL, Dhuique Mayer C, Luro F, Casanova J, Morillon A, Ollitrault P (2006) Carotenoid diversity in cultivated citrus is highly influenced by genetic factors. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 54, 4397-4406
- Fanciullino AL, Dhuique-Mayer C, Luro F, Morillon R, Ollitrault P (2007) Carotenoid biosynthetic pathway in the *Citrus* genus: number of copies and phylogenetic diversity of seven genes. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 55, 7405-7417
- Farin D, Ikan R, Gross J (1983) The carotenoid pigments in the juice and flavedo of a mandarin hybrid (*Citrus reticulata*) cv. Michal during ripening. *Phytochemistry* 22, 403-408
- Fraser PD, Bramley P (2004) The biosynthesis and nutritional uses of carotenoids. Progress in Lipid Research 43, 228-265
- Fujii H, Shimada T, Sugiyama A, Nishikawa F, Endo T, Nakano M, Ikoma Y, Shimizu T, Omura M (2007) Profiling ethylene-responsive genes in mature mandarin fruit using a citrus 22K oligoarray. *Plant Science* 173, 340-348
- Garcia-Luis A, Fornes F, Guardiola JL (1986) Effects of gibberellin A3 and cytokinins on natural and post-harvest, ethylene-induced pigmentation of Satsuma mandarin peel. *Physiologia Plantarum* **68**, 271-274
- Goldschmidt EE (1988) Regulatory aspects of chloro-chromoplast interconversions in senescing *Citrus* fruit peel. *Israel Journal of Botany* 47, 123-130
- **Goldschmidt EE, Huberman M, Goren R** (1993) Probing the role of endogenous ethylene in the degreening of citrus fruit with ethylene antagonists. *Plant Growth Regulation* **12**, 325-329
- Goldschmidt EE, Aharoni Y, Eilati SK, Riov JW, Monselise SP (1977) Differential counteraction of ethylene effects by gibberellin A<sub>3</sub> and N<sub>6</sub>-benzyladenine in senescencing citrus peel. *Plant Physiology* **59**, 193-195
- Goodner KL, Rouseff RL, Hofsommer HJ (2001) Orange, mandarin, and hybrid classification using multivariate statistics based on carotenoid profiles. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* **49**, 1146-1150
- Grierson W, Cohen E, Kitagawa H (1986) Degreening. In: Wardowski WF, Nagy S, Grierson W (Eds) Fresh Citrus Fruit, AVI Publisher Co., Westport, CT, pp 253-274

Gross J (1987) Pigments in Fruits, Academic Press, London, pp 303

- Gross J, Eckhardt G, Sonnen HD, Lenz F (1979) Einfluss unterschiedlichen stickstoffversorgung auf flavedo carotinoide von Calamondin (*Citrus madurensis*, Lour). *Gartenbauwissenschaft* **44**, 45-48 (in German)
- Gross J, Gabay M, Lifshitz A (1972) A comparative study of the carotenoid pigments in juice of Shamouti, Valencia and Whasington oranges, three varieties of *Citrus sinensis*. *Phytochemistry* **11**, 303-308
- Gross J, Timberg R (1983) Pigment and ultrastructural changes in the developing pummelo *Citrus grandis* 'Goliath'. *Botanical Gazette* 144, 401-406
- Gruszecki WI, Strzalka K (2005) Carotenoids as modulators of lipid mem-

brane physical properties. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1740, 108-115

Harris MJ, Dugger WM (1986) The occurrence of abscisic acid and abscisylβ-D-glucopyranoside in developing and mature citrus fruit as determined by enzyme immunoassay. *Plant Physiology* 82, 339-345

- Hirschberg J (2001) Carotenoid biosynthesis in flowering plants. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 4, 210-218
- Howitt CA, Pogson BJ (2006) Carotenoid accumulation and function in seeds and non-green tissues. *Plant, Cell and Environment* 29, 435-445
- Huff A (1983) Nutritional control of regreening and degreening in citrus peel segments. *Plant Physiology* 73, 243-249
- Huff A (1984) Sugar regulation of plastid interconversions in epicarp of citrus fruit. *Plant Physiology* 76, 307-312
- Huff A, Abdel-Bar MZ, Rodney DR, Roth RL, Gardner BR (1981) Enhancement of citrus regreening, and peel lycopene by trickle irrigation. *Hort Science* 16, 301-302
- Iglesias DJ, Tadeo FR, Legaz F, Primo-Millo E, Talon M (2001) In vivo sucrose stimulation of colour change in citrus fruit epicarps: Interactions between nutritional and hormonal signals. *Physiologia Plantarum* 112, 244-250
- Ikoma Y, Komatsu A, Kita M, Ogawa K, Omura M, Yano M, Moriguchi T (2001) Expression of a phytoene synthase gene and characteristic carotenoid accumulation during citrus fruit development. *Physiologia Plantarum* 111, 232-238
- Inoue K, Furbee KJ, Uratsu S, Kato M, Dandekar AM, Ikoma Y (2006) Catalytic activities and chloroplast import of carotenogenic enzymes from citrus. *Physiologia Plantarum* **127**, 561-570
- Isaacson T, Ohad I, Beyer P, Hirschberg J (2004) Analysis in vitro of the enzyme CRTISO establishes a poly-cis-carotenoid biosynthesis pathway in plants. Plant Physiology 136, 4246-4255
- Isaacson T, Ronen G, Zamir D, Hirschberg J (2002) Cloning of *tangerine* from tomato reveals a carotenoid isomerase essential for the production of  $\beta$ -carotene and xanthophylls in plants. *The Plant Cell* **14**, 333-342
- Iwagaki I, Kudo K (1977) Fruit quality of the location of fruit in a canopy of Satsuma mandarin tree. *Bulletin Shidoku Agriculture Experimental Station* 30, 17-23 (in Chinese)
- Iwagaki I (1981) Tree configuration and pruning of Satsuma mandarin in Japan. Proceeding from the International Society of Citriculture 1, 169-172
- Jacob-Wilk D, Holland D, Goldschmidt EE, Riov J, Eyal Y (1999) Chorophyll breakdown by chlorophyllase: Isolation and functional expression of the *Chlase1* gene from ethylene-treated *Citrus* fruit and its regulation during development. *Plant Journal* 20, 653-661
- Josse EM, Simkin AJ, Gaffe J, Laboure AM, Kuntz M, Carol P (2000) A plastid terminal oxidase associated with carotenoid desaturation during chromoplast differentiation. *Plant Physiology* 123, 1427-1436
- Kato M, Ikoma Y, Matsumoto H, Sugiura M, Hyodo H, Yano M (2004) Accumulation of carotenoids and expression of carotenoid biosynthetic genes during maturation in citrus fruit. *Plant Physiology* 134, 824-837
- Kato M, Matsumoto H, Ikoma Y, Okuda H, Yano M (2006) The role of carotenoid cleavage dioxygenases in the regulation of carotenoid profiles during maturation in citrus fruit. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 57, 2153-2164
- Khan M, Mackinney G (1953) Carotenoids in grapefruit, *Citrus paradisi*. *Plant Physiology* **28**, 550-552
- Kim IJ, Ko KC, Kim CS, Chung WI (2001) Isolation and characterization of cDNAs encoding β-carotene hydroxylase in *Citrus. Plant Science* 161, 1005-1010
- Kim IJ, Ko KC, Nam TS, Kim YW, Chung WI, Kim CS (2003) Expression and activity of citrus phytoene synthase and β-carotene hydroxylase in *Escherichia coli*. Journal of Microbiology **41**, 212-218
- Kita M, Komatsu A, Omura M, Yano M, Ikoma Y, Moriguchi T (2001) Cloning and expression of *CitPDS1*, a gene encoding phytoene desaturase in citrus. *Bioscience, Biotechnology and Biochemistry* 65, 1424-1428
- Koo RCJ, Reese RL (1977) Influence of nitrogen, potassium and irrigation on citrus fruit quality. Proceeding from the International Society of Citriculture 1, 34-38
- Kopsell DA, Kopsell DE (2006) Accumulation and bioavailability of dietary carotenoids in vegetable crops. *Trends in Plant Science* 11, 499-507
- Krinsky NI, Johnson EJ (2005) Carotenoid actions and their relation to health and disease. *Molecular Aspects of Medicine* 26, 459-516
- Lafuente MT, Martinez Tellez MA, Zacarías L (1997) Abscisic acid in the response of 'Fortune' mandarins to chilling. Effect of maturity and high-temperature conditioning. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 73, 4 94-502
- Lee HS (2001) Characterization of carotenoids in juice of red navel orange (Cara Cara). Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 49, 2563-2568
- Lee HS (2002) Characterization of major anthocyanins and the color of redfleshed budd blood orange (*Citrus sinensis*). Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry **50**, 1243-1246
- Lewinsohn E, Sitrit Y, Bar E, Azulay Y, Ibdah M, Meir A, Yosef E, Zamir D, Tadmor Y (2005) Not just colors. Carotenoid degradation as a link between pigmentation and aroma in tomato and watermelon fruit. *Trends in Food Science and Technology* 16, 407-415
- Lewis LN, Coggins CW (1964) The inhibition of carotenoid acumulation in Navel oranges by gibberellin A3 as measured by thin layer chromatography. *Plant and Cell Physiology* **5**, 457-463

- Li F, Murillo C, Wurtzel ET (2007) Maize Y9 encodes a product essential for 15-cis-ζ-carotene isomerization. *Plant Physiology* **144**, 1181-1189
- Lin SD, Chen AO (1994) Major carotenoids in the juice of Ponkan mandarin and Liucheng orange. *Journal of Food Biochemistry* 18, 273-283
- Liu Q, Xu J, Liu Y, Zhao X, Deng X, Guo L, Gu J (2007) A novel bud mutation that confers abnormal patterns of lycopene accumulation in sweet orange fruit (*Citrus sinensis* L. Osbeck). *Journal of Experimental Botany* 58, 4161-4171
- Lopez AB, Yang Y, Thannhauser TW, Li L (2008) Phytoene desaturase is present in a large protein complex in the plastid membrane. *Physiologia Plantarum* 133, 190-198
- Mahmoud SS, Croteau RB (2001) Metabolic engineering of essential oil yield and composition in mint by altering expression of deoxyxylulose phosphate reductoisomerase and menthofuran synthase. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science USA* 98, 8915-8920
- Matlack MB (1935) Pigments of pink grapefruit, Citrus grandis (L., Osbeck). The Journal of Biological Chemistry 110, 249-253
- Matsumoto H, Ikoma Y, Kato M, Kuniga T, Nakajima N, Yoshida T (2007) Quantification of carotenoids in *Citrus* fruit by LC-MS and comparison of patterns of seasonal changes for carotenoids among *Citrus* varieties. *Journal* of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 55, 2356-2368
- McCollum G (2007) 1-Methylcyclopropene inhibits degreening but stimulates respiration and ethylene biosynthesis in grapefruit. *HortScience* 42, 120-124
- Meléndez Martínez AJ, Britton G, Vicario IM, Heredia FJ (2005) Identification of zeinoxanthin in orange juices. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 53, 6362-6367
- Meléndez Martínez AJ, Vicario IM, Heredia FJ (2007) Geometrical isomers of violaxanthin in orange juice. Food Chemistry 104, 169-175
- Merchant S, Sawaya MR (2005) The light reactions: A guide to recent acquisitions for the picture gallery. *Plant Cell* 17, 648-663
- Meredith FI, Young RH (1969) Effect of temperature on pigment development in Redblush grapefruit and ruby blood oranges. *Proceedings First International Citrus Symposium* 1, 271-276
- Meredith FI, Young RH (1971) Changes in lycopene and carotene content of Redblush grapefruit exposed to high temperatures. *HortScience* 6, 233-234
- Monselise SP, Halevy AH (1961) Detection of lycopene in pink orange fruit. *Science* 133, 1478
- Morton J (1987) Lemon. In: Morton JF (Ed) Fruits of Warm Climates, Creative Resource Systems, Inc., Miami, FL, pp 160-168
- Nicolosi E, Deng ZN, Gentile A, La Malfa S, Continella G, Tribulato E (2000) Citrus phylogeny and genetic origin of important species as investigated by molecular markers. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* **100**, 1155-1166
- Niizu PY, Rodríguez Amaya DB (2005) New data on the carotenoid composition of raw salad vegetables. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis* 18, 739-749
- Oberholster R, Cowan AK, Molnar P, Toth G (2001) Biochemical basis of color as an aesthetic quality in *Citrus sinensis*. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 49, 303-307
- Park H, Kreunen SS, Cuttriss AJ, DellaPenna D, Pogson BJ (2002) Identification of the carotenoid isomerase provides insight into carotenoid biosynthesis, prolamellar body formation, and photomorphogenesis. *Plant Cell* 14, 321-332
- Porat R, Feng X, Huberman M, Galili D, Goren R, Goldschmidt EE (2001) Gibberellic acid slows postharvest degreening of 'Oroblanco' citrus fruits. *HortScience* 36, 937-940
- Pupin AM, Dennis MJ, Toledo MCF (1999) HPLC analysis of carotenoids in orange juice. Food Chemistry 64, 269-275
- Rao AV, Rao LG (2007) Carotenoids and human health. Pharmacological Research 55, 207-216
- Renzi LM, Johnson EJ (2007) Lutein and age-related ocular disorders in the older adult: a review. *Journal of Nutrition for the Elderly* 26, 139-157
- Rodrigo MJ, Alquézar B, Zacarías L (2006) Cloning and characterization of two 9-cis-epoxycarotenoid dioxygenase genes, differentially regulated during fruit maturation and under stress conditions, from orange (*Citrus sinensis* L. Osbeck). Journal of Experimental Botany 57, 633-643
- Rodrigo MJ, Marcos JF, Alférez F, Mallent MD, Zacarías L (2003) Characterization of pinalate, a novel *Citrus sinensis* mutant with a fruit-specific alteration that results in yellow pigmentation and decreased ABA content. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 54, 727-738
- Rodrigo MJ, Marcos JF, Zacarías L (2004) Biochemical and molecular analysis of carotenoid biosynthesis in flavedo of orange (*Citrus sinensis* L.) during fruit development and maturation. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 52, 6724-6731
- Rodrigo MJ, Zacarías L (2007) Effect of postharvest ethylene treatment on carotenoid accumulation and the expression of carotenoid biosynthetic genes in the flavedo of orange (*Citrus sinensis* L. Osbeck) fruit. *Postharvest Biology and Technology* 43, 14-22
- Rodríguez-Concepción M, Boronat A (2002) Elucidation of the methylerythritol phosphate pathway for isoprenoid biosynthesis in bacteria and plastids. A metabolic milestone achieved through genomics. *Plant Physiology* 130, 1079-1089

Rodríguez-Concepción M, Fores O, Martínez García JF, Gonzalez V, Phil-

**lips MA, Ferrer A, Boronat A** (2004) Distinct light-mediated pathways regulate the biosynthesis and exchange of isoprenoid precursors during *Arabidopsis* seedling development. *The Plant Cell* **16**, 144-156

- Ronen G, Carmel Goren L, Zamir D, Hirschberg J (2000) An alternative pathway to β-carotene formation in plant chromoplasts discovered by mapbased cloning of beta and old-gold color mutations in tomato. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 97, 1102-11107
- Saltveit ME (1999) Effect of ethylene on quality of fresh fruits and vegetables. Postharvest Biology and Technology 15, 279-292
- Sandmann G (1994) Carotenoid biosynthesis in microorganisms and plants. European Journal of Biochemistry 223, 7-24
- Sandmann G, Romer S, Fraser PD (2006) Understanding carotenoid metabolism as a necessity for genetic engineering of crop plants. *Metabolic Engineering* 8, 291-302
- Saunt J (2000) Citrus Varieties of the World, Sinclair International Ltd., Norwich, England, pp 16-17
- Schwartz SH, Qin X, Loewen MC (2004) The biochemical characterization of two carotenoid cleavage enzymes from *Arabidopsis* indicates that a carotenoid-derived compound inhibits lateral branching. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 279, 46940-46945
- Simkin AJ, Schwartz SH, Auldridge M, Taylor MG, Klee HJ (2004) The tomato carotenoid cleavage dioxygenase 1 genes contribute to the formation of the flavor volatiles β-ionone, pseudoionone, and geranylacetone. *The Plant Journal* 40, 882-892
- Sites JW, Reitz HJ (1949) The variation in individual Valencia oranges from different locations of the tree as a guide to sampling methods and spot-picking for quality. 1. Soluble solids in the juice. *Proceedings of the American Society for Horticultural Science* 54, 1-10
- Sonnen HD, Lenz F, Gross J (1979) Influence of root temperature on carotenoid development in the peel of *Citrus unshiu* (Marc) and *Citrus madurensis* (Louv). *Gartenbauwissenchaft* 44, 49-52
- Stearns CR, Young GT (1942) The relation of climatic conditions to color development in citrus fruit. Proceedings of the Florida State Horticultural Society 55, 59-61
- Stewart I (1977a) High performance liquid chromatographic determination of provitamin A in orange juice. *Journal of the Association of Official Analytical Chemists* 60, 132-136
- Stewart I (1977b) Provitamin A and carotenoid content of citrus juices. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 25, 1132-1137
- Stewart I (1980) Color as related to quality in citrus. In: Nagy S, Attaway A (Eds) Citrus Nutrition and Quality, American Chemical Society, Washington, DC, pp 129-150
- Stewart I, Leuenberger UB (1976) Citrus color. Alimenta 15, 33-36
- Stewart I, Wheaton TA (1971) Continuous flow separation of carotenoids by liquid chromatography. *Journal of Chromatography* 55, 325-336

- Stewart I, Wheaton TA (1972) Carotenoids in Citrus Their accumulation induced by ethylene. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 20, 448-449
- Stewart I, Wheaton TA (1973a) Carotenoids in citrus. Proceedings of the 1<sup>st</sup> International Citrus Congress 3, 325-330
- Stewart I, Wheaton TA (1973b) Conversion of β-citraurin to reticulataxanthin and β-apo-8'-carotenal to citranaxanthin during the isolation of carotenoids from *Citrus*. *Phytochemistry* **12**, 2947-2951
- Tadeo FR, Cercos M, Colmenero-Flores JM, Iglesias DJ, Naranjo MA, Rios G, Carrera E, Ruiz-Rivero O, Lliso I, Morillon R, Ollitrault P, Talon M (2008) Molecular physiology of development and quality of *Citrus. Advances in Botanical Research* 47, 147-223
- Tao J, Zhang S, An X, Zhao Z (2005) Effects of light on carotenoid biosynthesis and color formation of citrus fruit peel. *Ying Yong Sheng Tai Xue Bao* 14, 1833-1836
- Tao N, Hu Z, Liu Q, Xu J, Cheng Y, Guo L, Guo W, Deng X (2007) Expression of phytoene synthase gene (*Psy*) is enhanced during fruit ripening of Cara Cara navel orange (*Citrus sinensis* Osbeck). *Plant Cell Reports* 26, 837-843
- Ting SV and Deszyck EJ (1958) The internal color and carotenoid pigments of Florida red and pink grapefruit. *American Society for Horticultural Science* **71**, 271-77
- Trebish T, Goldschmidt EE, Riov J (1993) Ethylene induces de novo synthesis of chlorophyllase, a chlorophyll degrading enzyme, in Citrus fruit peel. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 90, 9441-9445
- Uchida M, Yoshinaga K, Kawasae K (1985) The effects of temperature and light intensity surrounding the Kavano Natsudaidai fruit bagged with some materials on fruit enlargement quality and peel color. *Bulletin of the Fruit Tree Research Station D* **7**, 57-76
- Xu CJ, Fraser PD, Wang WJ, Bramley P (2006a) Differences in the carotenoid content of ordinary citrus and lycopene-accumulating mutants. *Journal* of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 54, 5474-5481
- Xu J, Tao NG, Liu Q, Deng XX (2006b) Presence of diverse ratios of lycopene/β-carotene in five pink or red-fleshed citrus cultivars. *Scientia Horticulturae* 108, 181-184
- Yokoyama H, Vandercook CE (1967) Citrus carotenoids I. Comparison of carotenoids of mature-green and yellow lemons. *Journal of Food Science* 32, 42-48
- Yokoyama H, White MJ (1966) Citrus carotenoids VI. Carotenoid pigments in the flavedo of Sinton citrangequat. *Phytochemistry* 5, 1159-1173
- Yokoyama H, White MJ (1967) Carotenoids in the flavedo of Marsh seedless grapefruit. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 15, 693-696
- Young LB, Erickson LC (1961) Influences of temperature on color change in Valencia oranges. Proceedings of the American Society for Horticultural Science 78, 197-200